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Hard Lodging is located on the Ladiesburg Road, approximately one-half
mile from the intersection of Ladiesburg and Quaker Hill Roads, east
of Unicn Bridge, Carroll County, Maryland.

The house is built on a small cliff and overlooks the site where its
first owner, Solomon Shepherd, had a mill. Although the mill is no
longer present, the site is still surrounded by farmland, woods and
farm buildings, retaining a continuity of the early setting.

The construction of the house occurred in three stages. The middle.
section, a two and one-half story, four bay wide, common bond structure,
was probably the first stage. Its plan is two rooms with a narrow stair-
way on the board partition between the rooms. Entrance to the house is
into the kitchen from both sides, thus forming a cross passage. The
kitchen contains a large fireplace with some of the original hardware.
The doors are batten with wrought strap hinges. The stairway is unfin-
ished and the overlapping wide boards formlng the partition between the
rooms are visible. Backing onto this wall is a small fireplace serving
the other room. The wood trim in this room is of the same style as

the later west section of the house. Presumably, this room was converted
to a parlor when the larger section was built. The door frames have an
ovolo molding, and the chairrails are wide with a molded upper section.
The mantelpiece has an ovolo trim with an overmantel that has three plain
pilaster strips with broad panels between and a molded cornice along the
top. This middle section of the house has two chambers on the second
floor and a garret in the half-story.

The exterior of the middle section of Hard Lodging attains a nice propor-
tion through the visual effect of its details. The first floor windows
in this section are taller than those on the second floor. An interesting
feature is a wood ventilator built vertically in the side of the window
frame east of the doorway on the first floor, which provided air for the
large draft of the kitchen hearth. The south facade has the doorway in
the second bay from the east, six-over-six double hung sash windows in
the other three bays on the main floor, and three six~over—-six sash
windows on the second floor, leaving the bay above the doorway unfenes-
trated. The distinction between the floors is further emphasized by a
pent roof and the flat-arch lintels on the main floor as compared with
the second floor's header lintels. The north facade has an asymmetrical
fenestration and a small entrance porch. The roof is shingled and has
two chimney stacks, one centrally located and one in the east gable end.

The main section of the house is attached to the west side of the middle
structure and is a Federal style, three bay by two bay, two and one-half
story house with an interior gable end chimney and a side entrance plan.
One of the indications of a separate building period for this section is
the existence of a double wall constructed where the two buildings connect
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The architecture of Hard Lodging is significant in Carroll County.because
of the departure it takes from the predominant farmhouse style found in
central Maryland during the late 18th and early 19th centuries. The
middle section, related to Pennsylvania German architecture, particularly
through the pent roof forebau, is similar to other domestic structures

in the area. The Federal section, however, with its exterior architectural
details (molded watertable, belt course, attention to proportion) and
interior woodwork, is much more sophisticated than other farmhouses in
the region and more similar to houses found in the Tidewater region.

The site of Hard Lodging presumes the attention given to the architecture,
creating a classical atmosphere to the countryside setting. The combina-
tion of these elements produces an unusual farmhouse, yet keeps Hard
Lodging simple in design and refined in appearance.

Hard Lodging may also be the earliest successful attempt at constructing
a somewhat stylish farmhouse in the Union Bridge area. It was built by

Solomon Shepherd, and the historian, J. Thomas Scharf, notes that at the
time of construction, the neighbors were awed by Hard Lodging's presence:

For some time after the construction of his mill he was
without a house of his own, and boarded with his father-
in-law, at some distance down Pipe's Creek; and it is re-
lated of him that in walking back and forth along the
banks of the stream from the mill to the house at night
he was wont to burn the ends of a bunch of hickory sticks
before he would set out on his hazardous journey, and
when the wolves (which were savage and ravenous) ap-
proached too near he would shirl his firebrand about him
to drive them away. He afterwards moved into a log
house, which is still standing, and in 1790 built the
brick house in which Shepherd Wood now resides. The
latter was at that time considered a palatial extravagance,
and the neighbors dubbed in 'Solomon's Folly'.

Solomon Shepherd married into the Farquhar family, who had first settled
in the Unjon Bridge area in the middle of the eighteenth century and had
large land holdings. Susanna Farquhar and Solomon Shepherd were married
at the Pipe Creek Friends Meeting House near Hard Lodging. (The wedding
document is in the collection of the Historical Society of Carroll County..
According to Scharf, Shepherd established a prosperous fulling mill near

See Continuation Sheet #3
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DESCRIPTION (continued)

A date stone in the gable end of this structure is inscribed "1790."
The south and west facades are Flemish bond with a molded watertable.
The other walls are laid in common bond. Again, the first story win-
dows are taller than those on the second floor, and they have gauged
flat-arch brick lintels, while the second floor flat-arch lintels con-
sist of single bricks. A three-brick-high belt course exists between
the two floors on the south facade. This facade also contains the
main entranceway, an eight-panel door flanked by slender side columns,
three-pane sidelights, a six-light transom and a paneled recess. The
north facade has a window to light the staircase directly above a
small entranceway porch and single six-over-six windows on each floor.

The west gable end originally was fenestrated with six-over-six win-
dows scaled identically to the other facades on the first and second
floors, and two three-over-six windows in the half-story. Presently
a doorway exists in the south bay on the west gable end with a small
porch without a roof. The east gable end has windows like those in
the west end in the portion of the wall that is not attached to the
middle section of the house. There is a box cornice and shingle roof.

The side entrance plan provides a cross passageway that contains the
staircase and two rooms to the west of the passageway. The staircase
has an ovoid handrail, turned balusters, scroll with a flower motif,
stair ends, and angular paneling below. The woodwork in this passage-
way and the adjoining rooms -- chairrails, cornice moldings, and
mantelpieces -- is of Federal design.

Whether the middle section of Hard Lodging is the earliest structure
has not been substantiated. The doorway from the passageway to the
parlor of the middle section is two walls thick and the middle section
is built at a lower level than the Federal-style section. The middle
section is built on solid ground, but the Federal-style structure has
a basement which has chamfered vertical supports with a run-out stop.
The earlier hardware and moldings in the middle section suggest that
it was built first. It was common, however, to build service wings
onto the side of a house and these additions were usually relegated to
older styling. The fact that the stairway in the two-room middle
section is unfinished and the upper story did not have access to the
main house denotes that this section was definitely the service area
of the house. However, since the foqﬁ_preparation occurred in this

(See Continuation Sheet No. 2)

GPO 892 455



Form No. 10-300a
(Rev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

Hard Lodging

Carroll County
CONTINUATION SHEET Mayvyland ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 2

DESCRIPTION (continued)

area and there is no provision for that function in the Federal-style
section, it seems probable that this middle section was concurrent if
not a few years earlier. Conclusive evidence of the house periods
might be found in the attics under the floor boards and the presently
covered roof frames. The wall of the middle section, as found in the
double thickness on the first floor, is not present in the half story.
Neither is there a clapboard cladding which otherwise would have existed
if this section is earlier. Therefore if it is earlier, there should
be evidence of the frame and cladding and the brick wall in this sec-
tion of the attic.

The third section, built on the east side of the middle section, was
constructed in the mid-twentieth century. Built into the slope of
the cliff, it is one story with a high foundation. The foundation
contains a garage, while the main floor has a library and sun porch.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

Hard Lodging (Griffith's Map of 1794 sites a Farquhar mill in the
vicinity) which he expanded to a factory in 1810, constructing "carding
and spinning-machines and looms for the manufacture of cloths, blankets,
and other fabrics." 1In 1815 Shepherd moved from Hard Lodging to a
larger farmhouse.



